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States for the district of Kansas. The defendant was individually no
party to that judgment. For the purposes of proceedings of that kind,
the corporation and its shareholders are distinct and separate persons.
The legal source of liability in actions like this, which seems 1:0 have
met the approval of the supreme court of the United States (Carroll v.
Green, 92 U. S. 509), may be stated as follows: The shareholder,
acquiring stock in a Kansas corporation, impliedly undertakes, by
virtue of the constitution and laws of Kansas entering into the con-
tract, to be personally liable to creditors of the corporation, to the
extent of his stock, in the contingency that the corporation itself
cannot pay its debt. The liability, therefore, is a contract liability,
and resides in the act of accepting the stock of such a corporation.
The action upon such liability is not, therefore, upon a written prom-
ise or undertaking to pay money, nor upon any judgment, but upon
the stockholder's implied promise in his act of accepting the stock.
In this view of the case, the five-year limitation applies. It follows,
therefore, that the demurrer to the declaration m';1st be sustained.

.AMERICAN EXCH. NAT. BANK OF NEW YORK v. FIRST NAT. BANK
OF SPOKANE FALLS et ai.

,Circuit Court of Appeals, Ninth Circuit. October 4, 1897.)

No. 336.

1. NOTICE TO TAKE DEPOSITIONS-REASONABLENESS AS TO TIME.
What constitutes a reasonable notice, in point of time, of the taking of

depositions, under Rev. St. §§ 863-865, depends upon fhe circumstances of
each particular case; the chief circumstances to be considered being dis-
tance, number of witnesses, and facility of communication to obtain proper
representation at the taking.

2. DEPOSITIONS-NoTARY'S CERTIFICA'l'E.
A statement in the certificate of a notary taking a deposition that he is

"not of counsel nor Interested In any manner whatever in this cause" is a
substantial compliance with the requirement of Rev. St. § 863.

8. BANKS AND BANKING-COVERT BORROWING BY BANK.
If, for the purpose of enabling a bank to borrow without having its

printed statements show it as a borrower, another bank credits a sum to
tlle borrower's account, and charges the same to a special account, and takes
an individual guaranty note from the borrower's directors, amounts drawn
on the credit constitute a loan to the bank, and not to its directors.

4. SAME-TRIAL-QUESTION FOR JURY.
Upon the question whether a loan was made to the defendant bank itself,

and secured by a guaranty note of Its directors individually, or was made
to the directo,rs upon their own note, there was conflicting testimony as to
the original agreement, but it appeared that interest was charged to the
bank, and by it entered on its books under profit and loss; that the note
itself was a promise to repay loans made to the bank; that the bank's cash-
ier, in transmitting the note, referred to it as a guaranty; and that the loan
was credited to the bank,and drawn on by It in the ordinary methOd. and
course. Held, that there was sufficient evidence of a loan to the b8.nk to
warrant a submission to the jury.

o. SAME-BORROWING IN DIRECTORS' NAMES.
On the question whether a loan was .made to a bank or to Its directors,

the private arrangements of the directors as to how the transaction should
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on the bank's books would, not be controlling as against"the
len,der.

6. COJl,PORATIONS-CONTRACTS BY UNAUTHORIZED AGENT-RATIFICATION.
, may become liable upon contracts assumed to have been
'Illadein its behalf by an unauthorized agent, by appropriating and retain-
ing, with knowledge of the facts, the benefits of the contract.

7. SAM'E-":EvIDENCE.
, The fact that the directors of a bank unite in making a guaranty note to

.a loan to the bank previously arranged for by the cas'hier is evidence
of ratification of the cashier's act.

8. BANJl:S-:NOTICE OF DIRECTORS' MEETINGS.
If th"e directors of a bank have long pursued an established custom of

holding meetings and transacting business at the bank during business hours
whenever ·a,sufficient nnmber were present, the custom would carry with
it a standing notice to each director, and enable those 'present to proceed,
in the absence of a controlling by-law or statute.

In Error to the Circuit Court of the United States for the Eastern
Divisi():u of the District of Washington.
The "Tit of error in this case was sued out by the First National Bank of

Spokane Falls and F. Lewis Clark, receiver of said bank, defendants in the
court below, for certain errors claimed to have been committed by the trial
court in admitting and rejecting evidence, in giving and refu!ling to give in-
structions tothejury, and in denying a motion for a verdict in favor of the de-
fendants (plaintiffs in, error), in the sum of $16,021.70, with intetest, etc. The
action was brought by the American Exchange National Bank of New York
to recover the,sum of $34,472.20, with interest thereon from 1:)1e 5th day of Au-
gust, 1893, at the rate of 8 per cent. per annum, and interest on the sum of
$50,000, at the rate of 6 per cent. per annum from the 1st day of 1893,
to the 5th day of August, 1893. The complaint alleges, substantially, that on
or about the 9th day of November, 1892, the defendant the First Bank
of Spokane Falls, by and through its cashier 'and board of directors, borrowed
of the plaintiff, the American Exchange National Bank of New York. and the
latter, through its duly authorized officers, loaned to said defendant bank, the
surn of $50,000; which sum was then and there, by and with the authority and
consent of the cashier and board of directors of the defendant bank, placed to
the credit of defendant bank on the books of the plaintiff bank, and was after-
wards, but prior to the 26th day of July, 1893, drllwn upon by the defendant
bank, and fully paid out by the plaintiff bank upon the checks and drafts of
defendant bank, in the due and ordinary course of business between the two
banks, the plaintiff bank, during all the times and periods, mentioned, being
the defendant bank's correspondent in the city of New York; that it was agreed
that said loon should bear mterest at t'he rate of 1% per cent. per annum until
said rate should be changed by mutual agreement; that afterwards. on the 7th
day of March, 1893, it was mutually agreed lJetween said banks that the rate
of interest upon said loan should be changed from 1% pel' cent. pel' annum to
6 per cent. per annum; that on the 26th day of July, 1893, the defendant bank
became and was. insolvent, closed its doors, and shortly thereafter went into the
'hands of a receiver for liquidation, defendant F. Lewis Clark being appointed by
the comptroller of the currency as such receiver; that for a long time prior
to the making of said loan of $50,000, as aforesaid, the plaintiff bank was, and
continued to be up to the date when the defendant bank closed its doors, the
regular correspondent of the latter bank in the city of New York, and during
all of said period there was a large and varied account between the two banks,
upon which tM Q-efendant bank received the credit of said $50,000; that at the
time the defendallt bank closed its doors, as aforesaid, there appeared to be
a balance of $15,527.80 on the said account in favor of the defendant bank,
which amount the plaintiff bank then and there credited upon said loan of
$50,000; that but for said credit of $50,000, so entered upon said account, as
aforesaid, in lavor of t:be defendant bank, on acco'uut of said loan, there would
nave been an overdraft of $34,472.20 against the defendant bank at the time
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It closed its doors, instead of an apparent balance in Its favor. The answer
contained a general denial as to the fact of the alleged loan to the defendant
bank, and set up, as a further and separate defense and counterclaim, that on
the date of the suspension of the defendant bank, which was the 26th of July,
1893, the plaintiff bank had in its hands, belonging to the defendant bank,
funds, moneys, and credits amounting to the sum of $16,383.49, for which sum,
with interest thereon at 8 per cent. per annum from the 26th day of July.
1893, judgment was prayed. Both sides introduced evidence, and, after trial
duly had, the jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff bank, the defendant
in error here, for the sum of $34,713.71, with interest on the same from May
4, 1893, to April 30, 1896, amounting to $6,225.35, and aggregating a total of
$40,939.06, for which sum judgment was entered in favor of the plaintiff bank.
O. S. Voorhees (Jones, Voorhees & Stephens, of counsel), for plain-

tiffs in error.
Blake & Post, for defendant in error.
Before GILBERT, ROSS, and MORROW, Circuit Judges.

MORROW, Circuit Judge, after stating the case as above, delivered
tile opinion of the court, as follows:
The assignment of errors contains some 59 specifications, but the

principal one to be considered by this court, the determination of
which will go far in disposing of many of the remaining ones, is the
1st, to wit:
''That the court erred in giving any instructions whatever to the jury, except

an instruction to find a verdict for defendants for the sum of $16.,021.70, for
the reasons that there was no evidence whatever in said cause tending to show
any rig'llt of the plaintiff to a verdict in said cause against said defendants or
either of them, and that the evidence in said cause required the jury to find a
verdict for defendants for the sum of $16,021.70, together with interest thereon
at the legal rate."
This assignment of error raises the question whether there was any

evidence tending to show that the plaintiff was entitled to the ver-
dict. However, preliminarily, and before considering this assign-
ment of error, two other assignments of error (Nos. 35 and 36), {'elat-
ing to the admission in evidence of two depositions, may with pro-
priety be disposed of. It is contended, under these two assignments,
that the notice given of the taking of the depositions of Edward
Burns and Dumont Clarke, two witnesses on behalf of the plaintiff
bank, was not reasonable in point of time, and that the certificate
of the notary public was fatally defective, in that it failed to certify
that such notary was not, at the time of the taking of such deposi-
tions, of counselor attorney to either party, and was not interested
in the event of the cause. The evidence of these two witnesses was
of great importance to the plaintiff bank, and its suppression would
have withdrawn from the consideration of the jury evidence without
which it is difficult to see how they could have found a verdict in
favor of the plaintiff bank. With respect to the reasonableness of
the time, notice was given by the attorneys for the plaintiff bank at
Spokane to the attorneys for the defendant bank and the receiver,
on February 29, 1896, that the testimony of Edward Burns and Du-
mont Clarke, residents of the city of New York, would be taken,
under the provisions of sections 863, 864, and 865 of the Revised Stat-
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utes, before Carlton J. Barnes, a notary public in and for the city and
cOl1nty of New York, at the law offices of Cardozo & Nathan, No.
120 Broadway, in the city and state of New York, on the 10th day
of March, 1896, at 10 a. m., and thereafter from day to day, as the
taking of the depositions might be adjourned. This notice was duly
received and acknowledged by the attorneys for the defendant bank
on February 29, 1896. It gave them 10 days within which to com-
municate with their representatives in New York, and to prepare
for the taking of the depositions. 'While this notice was short, it
cannot be said, under the circumstances, to have been so unreason-
able, without any showing on the part of the defendant bank that
bona fide efforts were made by them to be represented at the taking of
the depositions, as would justify the trial court in suppressing the
depositions. It is true that the defendant bank was deprived of the
cross-examination of these two witnesses, but this could have been
avoided had there been all due diligence and alacrity in the matter.
No effort, so far as the records show, appears to have been made
to secure a postponement of the examinations. Five or six days, at
the most, under ordinary circumstances, would have sufficed to write
to New York and communicate with attorneys there to be represented
at the examination. This would still have left four or five days in
which to prepare for the taking of the depositions. As a matter of
fact, the taking of the depositions did not begin on the 10th of March,
1896, but it was continued to the next day, the 11th of :M-'·h. The
question of reasonableness of notice depends, obviously, Ul,u11 the cir-
cumstances of each particular case. It is a relative question. What
may be reasonable in one instance may not in another. The chief
features to be considered in determining whether a certain notice is
or is not reasonable are distance, number of witnesses, and facility
of communication and to obtain proper representation. Consider-
ing all of these elements· with reference to the taking of depositions
in a place like New York City, and particularly with respect to the
circumstances of this case, we think that the notice was reasonable.
With respect to the claIm that the certificate of the notary public

is fatally defective in the particular above indicated, it is enough to
say that the certificate, as it appears in the printed transcript of
record, contains the following statement: "That I am not of counsel
nor interested in any manner whatever in this cause." This would
seem to comply substantially with the provisions of section 863 of the
Revised Statutes. Donahue v. Roberts, 19 Fed. 863; Coal Co. v.
Maxwell, 20 Fed. 187; Stewart v. Townsend, 41 Fed. 121; 1 Fost. Fed.
Prac. (2d Ed.) p. 512, § 286. The action of the lower court in deny-
ing the motion to suppress the depositions, and in admitting them in
evidence, was, we think, correct and proper.

to the 1st assignment of error, it is hardly necessary
to observe that the function of this court, in reviewing a case upon
a writ of error, is not to try the case de novo, but simply to ascer-
tain whether there was sufficient evidence to go to the jury. Pleas-
ants v. Fant,22 Wall. 116, 122; Commissioners v. Clark, 94 U. S.
278, 284; Elliott v. Railway Co., 150 U. S. 245, 246, 14 Sup. Ct. 85;
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Railroad Co. v. Johnson's Adm'x, 44 U. S. App. 1,16 C. C. A. 317, and
69 Fed. 559, and cases there cited. '
There is no question as to the fact that the plaintiff bank, the

American Exchange National Bank of New York, advanced the sum
of $50,000. It is contended by the plaintiff bank that the evidence
shows that this sum was advanced or placed to the credit of the
First National Bank of Spokane Falls; while it is claimed on the
other hand, by the defendant bank and F. Lewis Clark, its receiver,
that the evidence tends to show that the money was advanced to the
directors of the bank upon their individual responsibility. The
jury, by their verdict, necessarily adopted the view that the money
had been advanced to and drawn by the defendant bank, and not by
the directors individually. Were they justified in so finding, and
were the rulings and instructions of the court in this respect correct?
It appears from the evidence that the plaintiff and defendant banks
were at the time of the loan, and had been for some time previous.
corresponding banks; that from the fall of 1890 to 1892 the defend-
ant bank had had some three or four rons which had embarrassed
it very much, almost compelling it to close its doo,rs on two or three
occasions; that in the fall of 1891 Mr. Horace L. Cutter, the cashier
and one of the directors of the bank, had occasion to take a trip
East; that, before going, he talked with several of the other direct·
ors about the advisability of making arrangements with some of the
bank's Eastern correspondents to allow the bank, in case of an
emergency, im overdraft all the way from $25,000 to $100,000; that
while no express and specific authorization to incur a loan for the
bank appears to have been given by the board of directors to Cutter,
as its cashier and one of the directors, nevertheless, in pursuance
of the conversation 'had as stated, Cutter, while in New York City,
called at the place of business of the American Exchange National
Bank of New York, and had an interview with its vice president,
Mr. Dumont Clarke, and its cashier, Mr. Edward Burns, relative to a
loan or advance of $50.000 or $100,000 should his bank need such a
sum. The testimony of Cutter, who was called as a witness for the
defendant bank, as to the arrangements he effected to secure the loan,
is briefly as follows:

"Q. Did you have any conversation with the said Clarke and Burns in the
city of New York, in the fall of 1891, relative to the loan of fifty or one hun-
dred thousand dollars? A. 1 did. Q. Now, you may state, Mr. Cutter, in detail,
, as fully as you can, such conversation. A. In the fali of 1891-1 think it was
ill the fall of 1891-1 was in New York City, and called at the American Ex-
change National Bank, and had an interview with Mr. Clarke, the vice presi-
dent of the bank, and Burns, the cashier, relative to a loan of fifty or a
hundred thousand dollars. 1 said at the time that 1 did not desire to use the
credit of the bank, but that certain of our directors, who owned the majority
or most of the stock of the bank, would give their individual liability therefor.
Upon my going there the following day, they told me that we could have it.
lt was then arranged that the fifty thousand dollars or the loan we might take
would be placed to the credit of the First National Bank of Spokane on special
account by the giving of this individual liability of the· directors. • • • Q.
You may state what was sald in the conversation on the seCond day to which
you have alluded, in connection with the credit upon which this loan was made.
A.It was simply to be placed to the credit of the First National Bank .of Spo·
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ltane QnspeclaJ account, on the Indivldua.l liability of the members constituting
the board of dIrectors."

Edward Burns, cashier of the American Exchange National Bank of
New York, called for the plaintiff bank, testified:
"Q. Will you please state fully the conversation that you bad with Mr. Cutter

In October, 1891? A. Mr. Cutter and the president and myself talked for some
time in regard to the matter of loaning him fifty or one hundred thousand dol-
lars. The principal part of the conversation related to the manner in which
It would be loaned, and thIs was for the reason that :Mr. Outter stated that he
was unwilling to let hIs printed statements go forth In his community showing
hIm a borrower of money. He wished therefore the loan to be arranged in
such a way as toavoid making this statement. INe showed him how the IOl!-n
could be made so that he could have a credit on our books, and yet not need
to print on his statement the rediscounting of any of his bills receivable, the
metllOd which we told hIm of being as follows: We to charge the First Spo-
kane special account, say, $50,000, and credit the First National Bank account
(the g'enera l account) $50,000. 'I'his would give him the $50,000 to draw against
on his regular aceount on his bool{S. ThIs would really show as against him,
as an item due to banks. When I say 'this,' I mean the $50,000 would appear
on his books as an item due to banks. Q. Give what Mr. Cutter said in the
connection. A. Cutter was entirely satisfied "'ith tl1is plan, as it covered the
very point he wanted to cover, as it afforded a plan to enable him to borrow
without showing it as rediscounted paper on his statement. The plan which
we proposed to Mr. Cutter was one which was used in many cases by banks
which had the same object in view as that mentioned by Mr. Cutter; that is,
the avoidance of printing bills rediscounted on the statements which they would
be called upon from time to time to make by the comptroller. Q. State
whether at that interview you did agree with Cutter to make any loan,
and. if so, on what terms. A. "lVe did agree to loan the First Xational Bank
of Spokane $50,000 against the guaranty of his board of directors. The rate
was made as low as one and one-half per cent., on account of an understanding
that was had that the money was needed chiefly as a balance with us."

Mr. Dumont Clarke, vice president of the plaintiff bank, testified a51
a witness on its behalf, as follows:
"Q. Will you state fUlly the conversation tl1en had with iYlr. Cutter? A. The

was in relation to an accommodation which he desired or might
desire. He wanted to place it in a shape that it would not appear upon any
statement that he might render' to the comptroller, as bills rediscounted for his
bank. It was then suggested that we might make for him, as we did oc-
casionally for some oth,ers, a special account; and, in case of his desiring ac-
commodation, we could charge that special account, and credIt his general ac-
count. In his statement it would then .appear as due to banks. He was to
give us as security, in case he needed such accommodation, a guaranty signed
by his board of directors, or a major portion of them. Q. Did you have any
talk with him as to a loan, or the amount of a loan, your bank should malie
when called upon? A. He wanted from fifty to one hundred thousand dollars.
Q. "That did Mr. Cutter say, if anything, In regard to this plan of borrowing
money? A. The arrangement suited :\11'. Cutter entirely."

In pursuance of this arrangement, the evidence tends to show that
the sum of $50,000 was placed to the credit of the First National Bank
of Spokane, and' the monthly statements, designated as "Plaintiff's
Exhibit I" and "Plaintiff's Exhibit 5," and the vouchers accompany-
ing the same, designated "Plaintiff'sExhibit 3," tend to establish the
facts that on the 9th <:lay of November, 1892, the defendant bank was
given a credit of $50,000 on the books of the plaintiff bank, and that
thereafter, between said 9th day of November, 1892, and the 26th day
of July, 1893, inclusive, the latter being the date when the defendant
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bank closed its doors, the account of the defendant bank with the
plaintiff bank was drawn upon only in the usual and ordinary course
of business between corresponding- banks, and the moneys, funds, and'
credits on deposit with the plaintiff bank were paid out only upon
drafts, checks, and orders signed by the duly authorized officers of the
defendant bank issued to· its customers in the usual and ordinary
course of business. It appear!,!, further, that the sum of $50,000 was
not fully used up until the 14th of February, 1893, when it appeal'S
that the whole amount, 'and more, had been drawn out by the
ant bank in the regular course of business between the two banks.
While this was the way in which the account stood between the two
banks, the account on the books of the defendant bank appeared in
this way;' Prickett, one of the directors, was credited on his account
with $50,000 on the28th of January, 1892, that being the same day
on which the note for $50,000 was executed to the plaintiff bank. On
October 3, 1892, follOWing, he was charged with $50,000, and the whole
account was closed out so far as he was concerned, at that time. On
December 15, 1892, the American Exchange National Bank special
account of $50,000 was credited, on the books of the defendant bank,
with $50,000, and the general account charged with $50,000. the effect
of which was to close the special account, and carry the $50,000 into
the open' or general running account between the two banks. It was
testified that Prickett held the $50,000 as trustee for the other signers
of the note, and then advanced it to the bank, or -rather used it in pay-
mentof $50,000 of the $150,000 increased capital stock. The capital
stock was credited, on October 3, 1892, with $150,000. This amount,
it was testified, was made up from $98,000 in paid-up dividends, to
which the directors added certain small' sums, aggregating $2,000
more, making $100,000; and this sum, with the $50,000 credited on the
books to Prickett's account, went to make up the $150,000 increased
capital stock. .
It is a significant fact that through all these charges and credits,

where it appeared that Prickett held the $50,000 as trustee for the di
rectors who signed the note therefor, and then advanced it to the de-
fendant bank in payment of $50,000 of the increased capital stock, the
plaintiff bank did not know Prickett a.s trustee of this money. It had
not advanced or agreed to advance the money to Prickett as trustee,
On the contrary, its contention all through the trial was that the mon-
ey had been placed to the credit of, and loaned to, the defendant bank,
and not to the directors individually, and that the directors' note was
simply a collateral security,-a "guaranty note." The evidence
to show that it dealt with, and only with, the defendant bank in the
regular course of business as a corresponding bank. The money was
not drawn by Prickett as trustee or otherwise, but by the defendant
bank in the regular course of business. The $50,000 was never in the
possession or under the control of Prickett as trustee or otherwise;
for, the first time credit was given by the plaintiff bank was on Kovem-
bel' 9, 1892, which was over a month after Prickett's account as trustee
with his own bank had been closed out, on October 3, 1892. More-
over, this was some nine months after Prickett was firs,t credited, on
the books of the defendant, with the sum of $50,000 as trustee, viz.
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Ja,puary28, 1892. As a matter of fact, Prickett and his associates
still. owe the $50,000 which it is claimed Prickett advanced in payment
of increased capital stock. It is apparent, therefore, that, whatever
private or understanding the directors ofthe defendant
bank may have had among themselves with respect to how this ad-
vance or overdraft of $50,000 should appear upon their books, that
could pot affect the legal rights of the plaintiff bank to the defendant
bank, providing the jury believed from the evidence that the plaintiff
bank had loaned the defendant bank, and not the directors individ-
ually. If the jury believed that the plaintiff bank had simply placed
to the credit of the defendant bank the sum of $50,000 should the lat-
ter need that sum or any part of it, and had secured a guaranty note
from the directors of the bank as collateral security therefor, and that
such was the result of the arrangements entered into between Cutter,
on behalf of the defendant bank, and of Clarke and Burns, on behalf
of the plaintiff bank, it had the right to place such construction on the
account of Prickett, as trustee, as it stood upon the books of the de-
fendant bank, as was consililtent with the view which it took that the
money had been borrowed by the bank, and used by the bank, and not
by the directors individually. There was evidence, further, tending
to show that the plaintiff bank charged the defendant bank, and not
the directors, with the interest On the loan. In this connecfion it is
significant that on the books. of the defendant bank, under date of May
4, 1893, there appears a charge to the profit and loss account of
$735.49, as interest on the amount borrowed from the American Ex-
change National Bank. No attempt was made by the American Ex-
change National Bank to charge the directors with interest. No
charge for interest was made against the directors on the books of
the defendant bank. No exception was taken at that time, or at any
subsequent time, until the trial, to the plaintiff ba,nk charging the
defendant bank, and not the directors individually, with the interest.
It is true that at the trial, for the first time, the witness Cutter sought
to explain this by stating that the charge to profit and loss was only
made temporarily. But this explanation was for the jury to con-
sider, and give such weight to it as they deemed proper. Evidence
was also introduced on behalf of the defendant bank tending to show
that the note given by the directors of the bank was intended as their
personal promissory note, and not as collateral security for the money
loaned to the bank. On the other hand, evidence was introduced
on behalf of the plaintiff bank tending to show that the note was a
guaranty note, intended solely as collateral security. The evidence
was conflicting, and it was for the jury to determine the fact. The
note was as follows:

"First National Bank.
"Jas. N. Gloyer, Prest. H.. W. Fairweather, Vice Prest. Horace L. Cutter,

. Cashier. IJ'. K. McBroom, Asst. Cashier.
"Spokane, Wash., Jany. 28th, 1892.

"$50,000. For value received, we,promise to pay to the American Exchange
National Bank of New York CitY,or order, In gold coin of the United States or
America, any and alI sums of m()lley Which the said American Exchange National
Bank of New York' City may loan 01' advance to the First National Bank of Spo-
kane, Washington, or on its account, to the amount of fifty thousand dolIars, and
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"Spokane, Wash., Jan. 28th, 1892.
"Edward Burns, Esq., Cas. American Exch. Natl. Bank, New York City-Dear

Sir: I inclose herewith Individual guaranty note of the directors of this bank,
$50,000, being lh of !ine arranged with your people when I was last in
your city (Oct., 1891), to be credited as suggested by you to our special account,
and applied on our active account as required. We do not know that we shall
have occasioll to use this, but thought best to have it with you In case we find
it to our advantage to do so. • • • Horace L. Cutter, Cas."

with interest on such loans and advances from the time the same are made
respectively, at the rate of six per cent. per annum; said payment to be made
by us on demand, said advances or overdrafts being made at our special
instance and request, and the faith of this understanding, and this ob-
ligation shall always apply to the balance of the First National Bank of Spo-
kane, Washington, indebtedness or liability to said American Exchange Na-
tional Bank of New York City, after deduction o,f all payments made before
demand thereon.

"[Signed] James N. Glover.
"[Signed] Horace L. Cutter.
"[Signed] J. L. Prickett.
"[Signed] H. W. I<'airweather.
"[Signed] J. Monaghan."

Aside from the terms of this instrument, it is a significant fact that
Cutter, while denying in his testimony that the note was intended
a guaranty for the loan to the bank, speaks of the note as a guaranty
note in a letter sent by him to the plaintiff bank, inclosing the note iu
question. That part of the letter introduced in evidence, and marked
"Exhibit A," is as follows:

"New York, Feb. 6th, 1892.
'Horace L. Cutter, Esq., Cashr., SlXlkane Falls, Wash.-Dear Sir: Your

favor of the 28th uIt. received, with inclosure, gu::tranty of the directors of your
bank, which we file away for use whenever you get ready to call upon us.
• • • E. Burns, Cashr."

In answer to this letter, E. Burns, cashier of the plaintiff bank, sent
the following reply (Exhibit E):

Cutter, in his testimony, claimed that he had used the word "guar-
anty" inadvertently. The jury undoubtedly gave such weight to this
statement as they saw fit. It is unnecessary to refer to other evi-
dence introduced in this connection. The jury, as stated, returned a
verdict in favor of the plaintiff bank, thereby necessarily finding that
the loan was made to the bank, and not to the directors individuallv.
But it was not only necessary that the plaintiff bank should have made
the loan to the defendant bank, and not to the directors individually;
but Cutter, the one who negotiated the loan or advance, must have had
authority to do so from the board of directors, or else his unauthorizpd
acts in that direction must have been ratified by the board of directors.
As was said in Bank v. Armstrong, 152 U. S. 346, 350, 14 Sup. Ct.

574, which is a case of striking similarity to that at bar:
"It may be conceded that the New York bank acted upon the theory that

the loan was to the Ohio bank, and took the notes and' certificates of stock as
collateral. But the liability of the Ohio bank Is not a necessary consequence
of such a concession. It bas further to be shown that the Ohio bank was
really a party to the transaction, either by having authorized Harper to effect
the loan on its behalf, or by having ratified his action and having accepted and
rnjoyed 'the proceeds of the discount." ,
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, In determining this question in this case, we must returnto the
ofCutter this loan. We find that when he returned tc)
Spokane, Wash., he apprised tb,e directors of what he had done.
James N. Glover, president of the defendant bank, testified:
. "0. Did you have any talk with Mr. Cutter, In connection with other members
ot the board, after he came baelt, as to what he had done in that direction? A.
Yes, sir; I think I remember of some little conversation with Mr. Cutter after
he returned fl'Om New York, trom his trip, In reference to the results of his
trip. Q. Well, what did he report about that? A. Mr. Cutter stated to me
that he had arranged with the American Exchange National Bank to get fifty
thousand dollars, and that in case of an emergency they were to extend it to
a hundred thousand. I think I asked him the question on what kind of terms
he got it. He said they agreed to allow us the use of that of money,
and charge USa very reasonable Interest,-I forget now just what the interest
was,...,...at any time that we used It, and for such amounts as we used, only. Q.
What security did he say they demanded, if any? A. At that time he did not
mention any security at all. Q. Well, did he afterwards? A. Well, as
recollection. serves me,-of I could not have told the date,-but there
was Rnotecame along after a bit during the winter season (the of '92,-
'91 and '92); the note that this seems to be a copy of, or the original note, per-
haps,-the original, I guess. And he then stated that they had required a note
of the directors,-a directors' note; and stating, of course, at the sam!! time,
that in case We did not use the money. that we would have no interest to pay;
and upon that representation we signed this note that Is here. That we did
not require It as a bank at that time. We did not require any money, because
we had. plenty of money of our own at that time, but this arrangement, as I
understood it, was, as I stated before, was simply to guard against trouble in
case we needed money, had a run or fiustratlon of business affairs, so that we
required a little assistance, we were to have it."

Mr. R W. Fairweather; a director and vice president of the bank,
testified:
"Q. Do you remember the time when Mr. Cutter went to New York, in '91,-

fall of '91? A. Yes. Q. What conversation, If any, did you have with him,
either before or after, about his mission to New York, and especially with the
American Exchange :\ational Bank of that city? A. Oh! We talked the mat-
ter over with Mr. Cutter, to see if we could raise some money. He thought he
COUld, with our Eastern correspondents at St. Paul, Chicago, and elsewhere.
Q. Whom do you mean by 'we'? A. wen, that Is the directorS,-the board,-
at an informal meeting. We were usually all In there, and we would just
say, 'Let's have a meeting.' That would be call for it,-personal notice. That
Is the way most of our meetings were held. Q. Well, for whom were you ex-
pecting to get money, or trying to get money, arranged to get money? A. For
the bank. Q. Well, what did Mr. Cutter tell you about the result of his mission
to New YorkaHer he returned? A. Oh! When he came back, he said he had
at'ranged for a fifty thousand dollar option or overdraft, In case we required it,
with the American Exchange National Bank, and he had asked for a hundred,
and .possibly might reach a' hundred. • • • Q. When, If at all, was it
brought to your· attention that any sort ot security should be advanced? A.
Oh! Not until some time the follOWing January. Q. Well,what was the oc-
casion at that time? A. I think Mr. Cutter then said he had promised a di-
rector's note as II. sort of guaranty for this fifty thousand dollar overdraft, and
that he had asked for It, and they had asked for the note." .

Mr. Cutter,J,'VlIile denying that he had any previous authorization
from the board of directors to incur a loan for the bank, admits that,
when he returned, he apprised the directors of what he had done, and
subsequently'secured their signatures to the guaranty note. It is
true that there is no record of the minutes of any meeting in which
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the acts of Cutter were expressly ratified ; but this is unimportant,
in view of the fact that the evidence tends to show that the meetings
of the board were purely informal. As a matter of fact, no record or
minutes were kept of the proceedings of any of the mEetings thus in-
formally held, except at the regular meetings of the board; and the
evidence shows that but two or three regular meetings were held dur-
ing the year. The other meetings were entirely informal; that is,
they occurred generally during business hours, and whenever a suffi-
cient number of directors were present. It affirmatively appears
that this was the custom of the directors. As stated, no minutes of
these frequent informal meetings were kept, and the recollection of
those directors who testified as to what took place or what was said
does not now seem to be very clear. But, however this may be, a
stronger evidence of ratification can hardly be imagined than when
all the directors, excepting one, who was then absent from the state,
signed the guaranty note. It is true that Cutter denies that it was
signed or intended as a guaranty note, and Glover testifies that he
did not understand that it was a guaranty note; but, on the other
hand, both Clarke and Burns, respectively vice president and cashier
of the plaintiff bank, and Fairweather, one of the directors of the
defendant bank, and one of those who signed the note, testify that the
money was loaned to the bank, and that the note was intended as a
guaranty note. This conflict in the evidence was for the jury to
determine. Further evidences of a ratification, which the jury were
entitled to consider, were the fact that the interest on the amount
loaned was charged up to the defendant bank, and not to the direct-
ors individually, as has been already indicated; that on the 5th of
June, 1893, shortly before the defendant bank closed its doors, a tele-
gram was sent by the defendant bank through Cutter. as cashier,
to the plaintiff bank, asking for the additional $50,000, which Cutter
had stated he might desire to draw on the plaintiff bank in case his
bank, in a period of emergency, should require that further sum.
The jury were entitled to consider all of these facts and circumstan-
ces in determining whether or not there was a ratification, express
or implied, by the board of directors. As the verdict was a general
one, the court cannot say whether the jury found that the loan was
made upon a previous authorization or a ratification. But, in any
event, the verdict would stand; for we think there was sufficient evi-
dence to go to the jury of a ratification of Cutter's acts as cashier
and director, within the rule laid down in Bank v. Armstrong, supra.
There it appeared that one E. L. Harper, vice president and general
manager of the Fidelity National Bank of Cincinnati, Ohio, had bor-
rowed the sum of $200,000, which was secured by collateral notes
signed by one A. P. Gahr, and indorsed by said E. L. Harper. The
money was borrowed from the Western National Bank of New York.
The latter bank brought suit against the receiver of the Fidelity Na-
tional Bank of Cincinnati, Ohio, alleging that the Fidelity National
Bank was indebted to the complainant bank in the sum of $207.290,
on account of a loan made on May 28, 1887, by the New York Bank
to the Ohio Bank, "at the special instance and request of E. L.
Harper, who was then the vice president and general manager of the



972 82 FEDERAL REPORTER.

said Fidelity National Bank, with full authority to make said loan
on its behalf." The answer denied that the Fidelity National Bank
was indebted to the complainant bank; that the complainant had on
May 28, 1887, or at any time, loaned the Fidelity National Bank the
sum of two hundred thousand dollars, or any other sum; and
that the notes mentioned in the bill, made by A. P. Gahr, and in-
dorsed by E. L. Harper, were discounted by the complainant bank
for said Harper, and that the proceeds of such discount were received
by said Harper; that the said notes were at no time the property of
'the Fidelity National Bank; and that the Fidelity National Bank
never had any interest in said transaction. and was in no way respon-
sible therefor. The cause was tried, and a decree entered dismissing
the bill. On appeal to the supreme court, the decree was affirmed,
it being held that the said Harper had neither been authorized to
borrow the money, nor had his action in so doing been ratified by the
board of directors of which he was vice president. Mr. Justice
Shiras, in delivering the opinion of the court, said:
"Even, therefore, if it be conceded that it was within the power of the board

of directors of the Fidelity National Bank to borrow $200,000 on time, it Is
yet obvious that the vice president, however general his powers, could not ex-
ercise such a power unless specially authorized so to do; and it is equally
obvious that persons dealing With the bank are presumed to know the extent
of the general powers of the officers. Without pursuing this part of the sub-
ject further, we think it evident that Harper had no authority to borrow this
money, and that the bank cannot be held for his engagements, even if made in
behalf of the bank, unless ratification on the part of the bank be shown. It
is scarcely necessary to say that a ratification, to be efficacious, must be made
by a party who has power to do the act in the first place,-that is, In the
present case, the board of directors; and that it must be made with knowledge
of the materlal facts. There Is ,not the sllghtest evidence shown In this record
that the board of the Fidelity National Bank, by any act, formal or informal,
undertook to ratify Harper's action In the premises, or that they ever had aoy
knowledge of the transaction."

Bringing the present the rule of ratification laid down
in the case just cited, we think there was sufficient evidence of a
ratification to call for the judgment of the jury, The fact, also,
that the defendant bank used the money, drew on it in the usual
course of its business between the two banks, would tend to bring
the case within the doctrine recognized in the case just cited, "that a
corporation may become liable upon contracts assumed to have been
made in its beqalf by an unauthorized agent by appropriating and
retaining, with knowledge of the facts, the benefits of the contracts
So made in its behalf." See, .also, Bank v. Patterson, 7 Oranch, 299;
Bank v. Dandridge, 12 Wheat. 64; v. Railroad Co., 23 How.
381; Gold Mining Co. v. National Bank, .96 U. S. 640; Gas Co. v.
Berry, 113 U. S. 322, 327, 5 Sup. Ct. 525; Pennsylvania R. Co. v.
Keokuk & H. Bridge Co., 131 U.• S. 371, 381, 9 Sup. Ct. 770. While
the evidence in some respects may not be as strong and satisfactory
as might be desired, still, in our opinion, there was sufficient to go to
the jury, and their verdict should not be disturbed. The action of
the court below in declining to instruct the jury to find for the ,)!ain-
tiffs in error was therefore proper, and is not error. This disposes
of the lst of error.
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The 2d, 3d, 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th, 8th, and 9th assignments of error re-
late to instructions given to the jury. We are of opinion that thel'e
was no material error, to the prejudice of the plaintiffs in error, com·
mitted by the court in these instructions. They appear to be proper
and fair, and to state the law, as applied to the evidence presented in
the case, clearly and fully.
The 10th assignment relates to the refusal of the court to instruct

the jury that, unless all of the members of the board of directors were
present or notified to be present, any action taken by the board in con·
nection with the $50,000 loan would not be binding on the bank, with-
out the further qualification subjoined that, if any member of the
board of directors was absent and beyond the reach of notice within a
reasonable time, a valid meeting of the board' might be held withont
his being present, or without his being act,tally notified, so long as 't
quorum of the board were present or were notified. The court ex-
plained to the jury that the by-laws of the company, as introduced in
evidence, did not, nor did the law, prescribe the kind of notice; that a
good notice might be given by a writing specifying the time and place
and object of the meeting, delivered to or sent by mail to each of the
directors, or a messenger;night be sent to notify the directors to meet.
or they might notify each other of the time and place of meeting, or if
the directors had a stated time for meeting, which they all knew about,
a meeting held at that time and that place would be deemed a meeting
of which all had notice; and if it was the regular custom, pursued for
a number of years, for the directors to hold a meeting and transact the
business of the bank at the banking house during business hours when·
ever a sufficient number were present, that custom would carry with
it a notice to each of the directors of a to be held within the
business hours of the bank for transacting the banking business, and
whenever a sufficient number were there assembled, and took action
upon the business of the bank within the powers of the board of di·
rectors, it would be deemed a meeting held, of which all the members
of the board had notice. These remarks accorded with the evidellce
in the case about the manner in which the meetings were held, and
appear to be proper and correct. It appeared that Cyrus Happy, one
of the directors of the defendant bank, was not present at some of the
meetings, and that he was absent from the state during the month of
May, 1893, shortly before the bank closed its doors.
Dillon, in his work on Municipal Corporations (2d Ed.) p. 319, § 200,

says:
"All corporators are presumed to know of the days appointed by the charter,

statute, usage, or by·laws for the transaction of particular business; and
hence no notice of such meeting for the transaction of such business is neces-
sary, or for the transaction of the mere ordinary affairs of the corporation on
such days; yet, if it is intended to proceed to any other act of impdrtance, a
notice is necessary, the same as at any other time."
Section 201. "A notice, when necessary, must, if practicable, be given to every

member who has a right to vote."

See, also, Thomp. Corp. § 3938; 17 Am. & Eng. Enc. Law, p. 85;
Paola & F. R. Ry. Co. v. Commissioners of Anderson Co., 16 Kan. 308;
Bank of Middlebury v. Rutland & W. R. Co., 30 Vt. 159, 170; Waite v.
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Mining 00.,37 Vt 608; Edgerly v. Emerson, 23 N. H. 555. In the
case lasfcited, it was held that a corporation is bound where a quo-
rum of the directors meet and unitein any determination, whether the
other directors are or are not notified. In Ohase v. Tuttle, 55 Oonn.
455, 12 Atl. 874, it was held that the failure on the part of some of
the directors, Who were out of the state, to receive notice, does not in-
validate the action of the majority, forming a legal quorum at such
meeting. It is to be observed, further, that section 21 of the by-laws
of the defendant bank provided that:
"The board of directors bold meetings at the banking bouse of said corpora-

tion as often as seems necessary, or at sucb times as they shall by resolution
designate. Tbe president shall preside at such meetings. A majority of the
number of directors shall constitute a quorum, and by a vote representing a
majority of the number of directors may transact business and determine any
proposition."
Tbe evidence clearly showed that it was the custom of the directors

to hold meetings whenever they deemed the same necessary; that they
generally held informal meetings during business hours whenever
there was a sufficient number to constitute a quorum. It is not pre-
tended that any of the directors were not aware of this custom. UD-
der the evidence as presented, we fail to finn any error in the refusal
of the court as above indicated.
The assignments of errors from and including the 11th to and in-

cluding the 57th (excepting, however, the 35th and 36th) relate to the
admission and rejection of evidence. ·VVe fail to detect any material
error committed by the court below in any of its rulings in this reo
spect. The evidence, admitted over the objections of the plaintiffs in
error, which is assigned as error, related to, and was introduced
for the purpose of showing, the true state of facts surrounding the ar-
rangements which were made for this loan or overdraft; also, to show
a previous authorization or a subsequent ratification of Outter's acts
in relation thereto. The evidence so admitted was, in our opinion,
competent, relevant, and material. The rulings of the court in reject-
ing the evidence indicated by the several assignments were proper
and correct.
Assignments of error numbered 35 and 36 have already been con-

sidered by us. They related to the admission of the depositions of
the witnesses Olarke and Burns.
The 57th and 59th assignments of error were practically decided

by the first assignment. The 57th relates to the refusal of the comt
to grant a nonsuit, and the 59th is that the verdict was contrary to
law and the evidence. There does not appear to be any 58th assign-
ment of error.
For the reasons given above, the judgment of the court below

should 'be affirmed; and it is so ordered.
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MASTER AND SERVANT-NEGJ.IGEKCE-FELI,OW SERVANT-RAIl,HOADS.
A brakeman employed by the St. L. Ry. Co. was killed in a col1!sion be-

tween his train and a train of the C. R. Co., through the negligence or
whose servants in charge of the latter train the accident occurred. The
St. L. Co. was the owner, and the C. Co: the lessee, of the right of way;
and they had agreed together for joint use of the tracks, the lessor com-
pany to comply with the regulations of the lessee company in reference to
operation of trains, and the latter to have general control of the line of rail-
way, and each had agreed to discharge any of Its agents or emploYM for
just cause at the demand of the other. Held, that the decedent and the em-
ploylisof the C. Co. were not fellow servants.

In Error to the Circuit Court of the United States for the South-
ern District of Illinois.
This action was brought by tihe defendant In error, Anna Rogers, as admin-

Istratrix of the estate of her husband, Frank Rogers, deceased, to recover
pecuniary damages resulting from the death of her husband, alleged to have
been caused by the negligence of the servants of the appellant C. H. Bosworth,
who was at the time receiver of and engaged in the operation of the railway
of the Chicago, Peoria & St. Louis Railway Company (hereinafter termed, for
brevity, the" "Chicago Company"). The St. Louis & Eastern Railway Company
(hereinafter called, for brevity, the "St. Lonis Company") operated a railway
from the Mississippi river, at or near Venice, In the state of Illinois, to the In-
diana state line. The Chicago Company operated a line of railway from the
city of Pekin to the city. of East St. Louis, and, by agreement between the two
companies, the St. Louis Company leased to the Chicago Company, for the
term or' 99 years, its certain right of way between 'Peters and Venice, in the
state of Illinois. The Chicago Company agreed to construct a line of railway
over that right of way, and it was arranged that the two companies should use
the line of railway in common, the St. Louis Company to observe,
comply with, and carry out all reasonable rules and regulations which might
from time to time be established by the Chicago Company with reference to
the operation of trains over the railway so' jointly occupied, and that the Chica-
go Company should. have the general control, management, and supervision
of the line of railway over such right of way, and the property connected there-
with which might be used jointly by the parties, and should have the sole con-
trol of, management, use, location, improvements, and repairs of the line of
railway, and the supervision of all officers, agents, and employl's necessary for
such purpose; that the Chicago Company might from time to time establish
and enforce such reasonable ruies and regulations as it might deem necessary
and proper; but it agreed that any of its agents or employes, for just cause,
on demand of the St. Louis Company, should be discharged, and the St. LouiS
Company agreed, for just cause, upon demand of the Chicago Company, to
discharge any of its agents and employed in reference to such joint
use.
About 6 o'clock on the evening of December 18, 1895, a south-bound local

freight of the Chicago Company entered the yards of this joint track at
Madison. and was backed upon a side track. The engine, having been de-
tached, went upon the main track, and backed to the north end of the yards;
then went upon a side :track, hauled eight or ten cars upon the main track,
detached two or three cars from the south end, and started back north on the
main tracl,i:, to place upon the side track the remaining cars. The night was
dark, and it was ralning; and no lights or signals were displayed upOuthe rear
end of the engine. A freight train of the St. Louis Company at this juncture
approacbed from the north. As soon as the train was discovered by· the crew
of the Chicago Company, the engineer started his engine south, and one of the


